2009

# Holladay Towne Center LLC, a Utah limited liability company v. Brown Family Holdings, LC a Utah limited company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

On April 23, 2009, the Utah Supreme Court granted HTC's Petition for Writ of Certiorari for review of the November 20, 2008 decision of the Utah Court of Appeals. Jurisdiction is proper in this case under Utah Code section 78A-3-102(3)(a). *See* Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(3)(a).

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW**

ISSUE I: Did the Utah Court of Appeals err in interpreting a lease agreement to obligate the tenant to cure a previously undisclosed cloud on the landlord's title?

PRESERVATION OF ISSUE: HTC presented this issue in its Petition for Certiorari. (*See* Petition for Writ of Certiorari, on file with the Court, at 10-18.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW: Questions of contract interpretation are matters of law that the Utah Supreme Court reviews for correctness. *See Fairbourn Commercial, Inc. v. Am. Hous. Partners, Inc.*, 2004 UT 54, ¶ 6, 94 P.3d 292.

ISSUE II: Did the Utah Court of Appeals err in deciding that a landlord can lawfully confer standing to assert its property rights upon a tenant via a provision in a lease agreement?

PRESERVATION OF ISSUE: HTC presented this issue in its Petition for Certiorari. (*See* Petition for Writ of Certiorari, on file with the Court, at 19-20.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW: “[A] determination of standing is generally a question of law, [that the Court] review[s] for correctness.” *Mellor v. Wasatch Crest Mut. Ins. Co.*, 2009 UT 5, ¶ 7, 201 P.3d 1004.

### CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY PROVISIONS

There are no governing constitutional or statutory provisions.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case requires a careful analysis of the nature and quality of ownership interests provided by a landlord to a tenant, as well as the fundamental distinction between the quality of such ownership interests and the uses allowed by the landlord on property. The Utah Court of Appeals’ decision failed to recognize this distinction and, as a result, stands real property law on its head by ruling that HTC, as tenant, is responsible for a previously undisclosed cloud on landlord Brown’s title.

Additionally, this case involves a critical question of Utah standing law: Can parties confer legal standing via a contractual agreement? In holding that the language of the lease obligated HTC to assert a challenge to an encumbrance on the leased property, the Utah Court of Appeals effectively recognized that a landlord can confer standing to a tenant via a provision in a lease agreement. This recognition contravenes established law and public policy.



**1. Nature of the Case**

HTC initiated this action against Brown after Brown refused to address an undisclosed easement (the “Easement”) clouding title to the property that Brown leased to HTC (the “Property”). As known to Brown and stated in the parties’ lease agreement (the “Lease”), HTC’s sole purpose in leasing the Property was to develop the Property as a shopping center. Indeed, express provisions in the Lease even allowed HTC to finance the Property to obtain capital funding to develop the shopping center. As tenant of the Property, HTC sought to have Brown, as landlord and owner of the Property, remove the cloud of title caused by the Easement and thereby provide the promised unencumbered fee simple real estate for use by HTC and allow for the financing and development of the shopping center. HTC cannot obtain a title policy for the Property without listing the Easement as an exception to coverage, regardless of whether it is an owner's policy or a lender's policy of title insurance. Because of the Easement and its non-insurable status, HTC is hindered from obtaining financing for development of or construction of the shopping center on the Property in the manner contemplated by the Lease.

Rather than remove the Easement and thereby restore marketable title to the property for leasehold and purchase purposes, Brown argued below that the Easement was not a genuine cloud of title and that the Lease required HTC to either live with the Easement and whatever cloud on title it imposed or pay the significant legal fees and expend the considerable time necessary to remove the cloud itself.

## 2. Trial Court Decision

On August 9, 2006, HTC filed its Complaint against Brown, asserting claims for declaratory judgment, breach of contract, and specific performance. (R. at 1-40.) In response, Brown filed a motion to dismiss HTC's claims. (R. at 44-46.) Brown subsequently filed a counterclaim, alleging breach of contract, breach of good faith and fair dealing, waste of premises, and unjust enrichment. (R. at 393-99.) In December 2006, HTC moved to dismiss Brown's counterclaim and moved for summary judgment on HTC's claims for declaratory judgment and specific performance. (R. at 405-07.) In early 2007, Brown filed a cross-motion for summary judgment on, *inter alia*, its breach of contract claim. (R. at 497-99.) The court heard oral argument on the parties' motions to dismiss and motions for summary judgment on March 12, 2007. (R. at 928.)<sup>1</sup>

On May 1, 2007, the trial court issued its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order ("Order"). (R. at 825-29.) A copy of the Order is attached hereto as Addendum A. In the Order, the trial court concluded, in relevant part, that no actual Easement exists on the Property. The trial court reasoned that "[b]ecause there is no [E]asment affecting [the Property], there is no basis for [HTC's] claims against [Brown] and this action should not have been brought against the landlord, causing the landlord to incur costs." (R. 827-28.) The trial court further reasoned that even if the Easement does

---

<sup>1</sup> Each of the parties also filed motions to strike affidavits as part of the briefing for their competing motions. The motions to strike are not relevant to this appeal.

“create[] legal requirements that interfere with [HTC’s] use of its leasehold, [HTC] has the right under the [L]ease and by virtue of its leasehold to contest those legal requirements by quiet title action or otherwise, but such action should be conducted in such a manner as to result in no cost to [Brown.]” (R. at 827-28.) The trial court also pointed out that the Lease “provides that it is a triple net lease and that rent would be paid without offset and without cost to the landlord.” (R. at 826.) Based on these conclusions, the trial court dismissed HTC’s Complaint against Brown and ordered HTC to pay all of Brown’s costs and attorney fees related to the action and to Brown’s collection of rent from HTC. (R. at 828-29.) The Order also granted HTC leave to amend its Complaint. (R. at 828.)<sup>2</sup>

### **3. Utah Court of Appeals Decision**

HTC appealed the trial court’s decision to dismiss HTC’s Complaint. On appeal, the Utah Court of Appeals affirmed the decision of the trial court. *See Holladay Towne Ctr., LLC v. Brown Family Holdings, LC*, 2008 UT App 420, ¶ 5, 198 P.3d 990. A copy of the court of appeals’ opinion is attached hereto as Addendum B. In so doing, the appellate court concluded that “the language of the Lease resolves the question [of whose

---

<sup>2</sup> HTC filed a cross motion for summary judgment on Brown’s claim of unlawful detainer. In its Order, the trial court concluded that HTC had not materially breached the Lease because HTC had desisted making late payments at Brown’s request, HTC had made timely rent payments since Brown’s request, and any costs to Brown as a result of late rental payments could be remedied by HTC’s payment of Brown’s attorney fees and costs. The Utah Court of Appeals subsequently affirmed this decision. The court of appeals’ decision on this issue is not on certiorari before the Court.

obligation it was to take care of an easement discovered after the commencement of the Lease] as to these parties.” *Id.* at ¶ 9. Specifically, the court stated that “[i]n light of the language of the Lease, it is clear that the parties contracted so as to anticipate and resolve the very dispute presented in this appeal.” *Id.* at ¶ 10. Like the trial court, the Utah Court of Appeals emphasized that “the Lease was drafted as a triple-net lease to ensure that . . . Brown[] incurred no monetary obligations as a result of HTC leasing the Premises.” *Id.* But the court further relied on the Lease’s language that HTC shall either comply with all “Legal Requirements” in the use, occupation, control and enjoyment of the Property or HTC can exercise the “right, at its own cost and expense, to contest or review by appropriate legal or administrative proceeding the validity or legality of any such Legal Requirement.”” *Id.* at ¶ 11. Because the court determined that the defined term “Legal Requirements” included the Easement as a form of “covenants, restrictions, and conditions now or hereafter of record which may be applicable to [HTC] or to all or any portion of the [Property],” the court concluded that HTC had to either comply with the Easement or cure it at its own expense. *Id.* at ¶¶ 12-13.

Based on its conclusion that the Lease language specifically answered the question of which party—the landlord or the tenant—had the obligation to cure the Easement, the Utah Court of Appeals stated it was declining to address the question of standing. *See id.* at ¶ 13 n.3. This statement, however, belied the fact that in holding the Lease language required HTC to challenge the Easement, the court effectively recognized the legal

validity of a landlord contractually conferring legal standing to assert its property rights on its tenant.

**4. Petition for Writ of Certiorari**

In early 2009, HTC filed a petition for writ of certiorari of the Utah Court of Appeals' November 20, 2008 decision. On April 23, 2009, this Court granted HTC's petition on the issues of whether the Utah Court of Appeals erroneously concluded that the Lease assigned responsibility to the tenant to redress subsequently discovered encumbrances on the Property, such as the Easement, and whether a lease can confer legal standing on a tenant to challenge the property rights of the landlord. A copy of this Court's Order Granting HTC's Petition for Writ of Certiorari is attached hereto as Addendum C.

**STATEMENT OF FACTS**

1. Brown is the fee owner of the Property. The Property constitutes approximately .44 acres, along with all rights and interest, located on Lot 27 in Holladay, Utah. (R. at 9, 37.) A copy of the Lease is attached hereto as Addendum D.

2. On March 1, 2005, Brown and HTC entered into the Lease for the Property. (R. at 9.)

3. The Lease explicitly expresses the parties' understanding that HTC "may use the [Property] for a shopping center, retail store(s), office(s). . . [and] [HTC] may construct all the Improvements on the Land. . . ." (R. at 20.)

4. The Lease states that Brown agrees to

lease[] to [HTC] the [Property] . . . , together with all rights, privileges, easements, and appurtenances belonging to or in any way appertaining thereto, including but not limited to, any and all surface easements, rights, titles, and privileges of [Brown] now or hereafter existing in and to adjacent streets, sidewalks, and alleys for the [term of the Lease], at the rental, and upon all of the covenants and conditions set forth herein.

(R. at 13.)

5. Under the Lease, Brown agrees that it is delivering possession of the Property and all "rights, privileges, easements, and appurtenances" to HTC, subject only to the Permitted Exceptions expressly defined in the Lease. Permitted Exceptions are defined as "those matters described in Exhibit B attached hereto affecting Landlord's title to the Land all of which have been approved by Tenant." (R. at 11, 13, 38.)

6. The only Permitted Exceptions listed in the Lease are "Property taxes and Assessments accruing for the year 2005 and thereafter." (R. at 11, 38.)

7. Thus, the Permitted Exceptions expressly relate to the quality of title held by Brown, as landlord, and make no mention of any easement or other encumbrance on the Property. (R. at 38.)

8. At the time the parties entered into the Lease, neither party knew of the Easement. (R. at 827.)

9. The Lease explicitly defines “Tenant’s Estate” as “all of Tenant’s right, title and interest in its leasehold estate in the Premises, its fee estate in the Improvements, and its interest under this Lease.” (R. at 12.) In contrast, “Landlord’s Estate” is defined as “all of Landlord’s right, title, and interest in its fee estate in the Premises, its reversionary interest in the Improvements pursuant hereto, and all other Rent and benefits due Landlord hereunder.” (R. at 10-11.)

10. HTC bargained for its rights under the Lease on the representation that property taxes and assessments for 2005 and thereafter were the only Permitted Exceptions to Brown delivering full possession of the Property to HTC. (R. at 9.)

11. Brown’s representation in the Lease that there were no other encumbrances on the Property was a material and integral factor in HTC’s decision to enter into the Lease. (R. at 159, ¶ 14.)

12. To use the Property as HTC intended in entering into the Lease as a commercial shopping center, the Property must be free from encumbrances that prohibit the development or construction of improvements. (R. at 159, ¶ 13.)

13. In early 2006, HTC’s review of a survey map of the Property revealed a possible easement in favor of an adjoining parcel to the Property, lot 26. (R. at 159, ¶ 15.)

14. In a letter dated April 7, 2006, HTC, through counsel, informed Brown of the Easement. (R. at 160, ¶ 17, and 197.)

15. In response, Brown refused to take any action to address the Easement, arguing instead that the Easement was per se invalid. (R. at 160, ¶ 18.)

16. Around the same time that HTC was corresponding with Brown regarding the Easement, HTC hired Joseph Capilli of the Talon Group (a division of First American Title Insurance Company) to research the title of the Property. (R. at 99, ¶¶ 7, 8; 160, ¶ 19.)

17. Capilli's research revealed that prior to August 1980, lot 26 and lot 27 were owned by the same owner, and, in August 1980, lot 26 was transferred with an Easement on the Property (lot 27) for parking and ingress and egress. Capilli's research further revealed that the Easement remained on the transferring documents of lot 26's current owners. (R. at 99-101; 103, ¶¶ 10 -15, 27.)

18. Upon determining the existence of the Easement, Mr. Capilli met with HTC and Brown and explained that the title insurance company would be unable to issue a title insurance policy for the Property without excluding the Easement from coverage under such policy. (R. at 103, ¶ 28.)

19. Capilli subsequently prepared a Preliminary Title Report for the Property. This report lists the Easement as an exception to the proposed policy. (R. at 104, ¶ 29.)



20. First American instructed HTC that regardless of whether it is an owner's policy or a lender's policy of title insurance, the title company would only issue a title policy for the Property if the Easement is listed as an exception to the policy. (R. at 104, ¶ 30.)

21. Following this news, HTC again asked Brown to address the Easement. (R. at 160, ¶¶ 21, 23.)

22. Despite learning of the existence of the Easement from First American, Brown continued to reject HTC's request on grounds that the Easement is per se invalid. (R. at 160, ¶¶ 18, 21, 23.)

23. Pursuant to default notice provisions under the Lease, on April 7, 2007, HTC sent Brown a letter informing Brown that it was in default of the Lease for failing to address the Easement. (R. at 29; 209, ¶ 20.)

24. Because of the existence of the Easement, HTC cannot develop, construct, or obtain financing for the Improvements (defined in the Lease as "any structures hereafter constructed on and affixed to the [Property]" as it bargained for under the Lease. (R. at 10 (providing definition of "Improvements") ;161, ¶ 24.)

25. The Lease requires HTC to comply with "all Legal Requirements in the use, occupation, control and enjoyment of the [Property] and in the prosecution and conduct of its business thereon." (R. at 20; *see also* Lease at 12.)

26. The Lease defines Legal Requirements as

all present and future laws, statutes, requirements, ordinances, orders, judgments, regulations, administrative or judicial determinations, even if unforeseen or extraordinary, of every governmental or quasi-governmental authority, court or agency claiming jurisdiction over the [Property] now or hereafter enacted or in effect (including, but not limited to, Environment Laws and those relating to accessibility to, usability by, an discrimination against, disabled individuals), and all covenants, restrictions, and conditions now or hereafter or record which may be applicable to Tenant or to all or any portion of the Premises, or to the use, occupancy, possession, operation, maintenance, alteration, repair or restoration of any of the Premises, even if compliance therewith necessitates structural changes to the Improvements or the making of Improvements, or results in interference with the use or enjoyment of all or any portion of the Premises.

(R. at 11; *see also* Lease at 3.)

27. The Lease states that HTC has “the right at its own cost and expense, to contest or review by appropriate legal or administrative proceeding the validity or legality of any such Legal Requirement.” (R. at 20; *see also* Lease at 12.)

28. Paragraph 16 of the Lease provides to HTC an option to purchase the Property. Upon exercising such an option, HTC would acquire Landlord’s Estate “subject to only the matters described in Section 1.1 [the property taxes and assessments accruing for the year 2005 and thereafter, as listed on Exhibit B of the Lease and defined as “Permitted Exceptions”] and other matters reasonably approved by Tenant.” (R. at 31.)

29. Article 5 of the Lease contains detailed provisions expressly contemplating and allowing HTC the ability to mortgage the Property as part of obtaining funding for development of the shopping center. (R. at 15.)

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

In interpreting the Lease to obligate HTC to cure the Easement affecting Brown's quality of title, the Utah Court of Appeals misapplied and disregarded established principles of contract interpretation. Specifically, the appellate court ignored the plain meaning of contractual terms, failed to harmonize and give effect to all terms, and adopted an interpretation that creates an absurd result when interpreted against established principles of real property jurisprudence.

Furthermore, the Utah Court of Appeals' interpretation of the Lease as providing HTC with the burden of challenging quality of title issues on behalf of Brown effectively recognizes and endorses contractual provisions that confer legal standing. Such a recognition contravenes established law and sound public policy.

On these grounds, HTC respectfully requests that this Court reverse the decision of the Utah Court of Appeals and remand with instructions for the trial court to enter a judgment determining the Easement to be an encumbrance on Brown's fee-simple ownership that Brown must address as part of providing the promised fee simple leasehold interest.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN INTERPRETING THE LEASE AS ASSIGNING RESPONSIBILITY TO HTC, AS TENANT, TO CURE THE PREVIOUSLY UNDISCLOSED CLOUD ON BROWN'S TITLE.**

In interpreting the Lease as requiring HTC to cure the previously undisclosed Easement, the Utah Court of Appeals erroneously disregarded several central principles of contract construction. Fundamentally, the court failed to interpret the Lease in accordance with its plain meaning. Additionally, the court failed to harmonize all terms and to construe like terms in the Lease similarly. The court's interpretation of the Lease also erroneously failed to give effect to all contract terms. Finally, the Utah Court of Appeal's interpretation leads to an absurd result as to Brown's quality of title in a leasehold transaction.

#### **A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Is Contrary to the Plain Meaning of the Lease**

Utah contract law requires that "[an] unambiguous contract term be given its plain meaning." *Level 3 Communications, LLC v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 2007 UT App 127, ¶ 9, 163 P.3d 652; *see also Fairbourn Commercial, Inc. v. Am. Hous. Partners, Inc.*, 2004 UT 54, ¶ 10, 94 P.3d 292. Here, the court of appeals disregarded this principle by failing to recognize the well-established distinction between the meaning of the terms "easements" and "covenants, conditions, and restrictions."

Paragraph 6.3 of the Lease ascribes certain “Legal Requirements” that HTC must comply with or “at its own cost and expense, . . . contest or review by appropriate legal or administrative proceeding.” The Lease defines “Legal Requirements” as

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