2009

Holladay Towne Center, L.L.C., v. Brown Family Holdings, L.C., a Utah limited liability company : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Petitioner Holladay Towne Center, L.L.C., prophecies gloom and doom for the law of Landlord and Tenant in this state if the Court of Appeals decision is not reversed. HTC can only reach this dire prophecy by leaving out the undisputed and salient facts of this case. HTC’s entire argument relies on their unsupported assertion that there is an easement on Lot 27, the piece of real property that is the subject of the Ground Lease between HTC and Brown, when, in fact, there is none.

There is no easement on Lot 27. There is no easement recorded, there is no easement on the ground, there is not even a beneficiary of the supposed easement asserting its existence. There is no easement anywhere except in the imagination of a tenant who is trying to force its landlord into renegotiating a lease with an option to purchase; a lease/option that represents the retirement fund of the Brown family. Given these undisputed facts, the Trial Court specifically found that there was no easement on Lot 27. In its petition for Writ of Certiorari, HTC did not challenge the Trial Court's finding that there is no easement on Lot 27. Yet now, HTC's entire argument hinges on there being an easement on this property. Because there is no easement on Lot 27, HTC's entire argument is pointless.

Petitioner further argues that the Court of Appeals, in its decision, failed to apply the plain meaning of the term covenants, conditions and restrictions (CC&Rs). Problematically, that term exists nowhere in the Ground Lease and the context of the Lease where the separate terms are used makes it clear that the language was designed to put the burden of all such concerns on the Tenant. Indeed, to get to the heart of the matter, the Ground Lease specifically stated that the "tenant agrees that the amount of annual rent will be paid without offset and that tenant will pay all imposition and cost relating to the property *so that the Landlord has no cost or expense relating to the property during the term or an extension of the lease.*" (R. at 14) (Italics added). Whatever might be the technical arguments relating to the meaning of this lease as it relates to this imaginary easement, HTC has pursued a course of action that has imposed

costs and expenses relating to the property during the term of the lease. This course of action by the Tenant has effectively deprived the Brown family of the benefit of their bargain—a steady retirement income stream on which they could rely.

Similarly, Petitioner HTC tries to argue that this case would have a negative impact on the law relating to standing. HTC makes this argument by ignoring the reality that Petitioner holds a long term Ground Lease with an option to purchase that gives it the right, should it someday exercise that option, to become the fee holder of the property. This argument also ignores the fact that HTC has the right, under the terms of the Ground Lease, to contest conditions or restrictions on the property. Given these rights under a long term Ground Lease with an option to purchase, HTC has standing under Utah law to deal with this imaginary easement as it sees fit.

ARGUMENT

I. THERE IS NO EASEMENT ON THE REAL PROPERTY LEASED BY HTC FROM BROWN.

In March of 2005, HTC and Brown entered into a Ground Lease wherein HTC leased from Brown a piece of real property described on Exhibit A which is attached to the Ground Lease (attached as Addendum D to the Appellant’s Brief) and legally described as Lot 27, Peony Gardens (“Lot 27”). The only property that was leased to HTC by Brown was Lot 27. There is no other real property that was subject to the Ground Lease entered into between these two parties.

No easement has been recorded against Lot 27. HTC has tried to create a cloud on

the title of Lot 27 by reference to documents recorded against a different lot which reference a purported easement over Lot 27. (R. at 603-605). The documents, entitled notice of contracts, were recorded against Lot 26, not Lot 27, and included in the legal description a purported easement over Lot 27. (R. at 603-605; see also R. at 535-536). After recording the notice of contract on Lot 26, nothing happened for several years (R. at 535). Then, the owner of both Lots 26 and 27 conveyed Lot 27 free and clear of any easements in 1984.¹ (R. at 606 and 535). After this point in time, Ralom Investment Company, the owner of Lot 26, did not own Lot 27 and thus could not thereafter convey an easement over Lot 27. (R. at 535). See also, Salt Lake County v. Metro West Ready Mix, 89 P.3d 155 (Utah 2004) (stranger to record title cannot convey interest in property). In 1993, nine years after Lot 27 had been conveyed free and clear of any easement, Ralom Investment Company who no longer owned Lot 27 and thus had no interest in Lot 27 to convey, purported to convey Lot 26 with an easement over Lot 27 to Ben Aire Associates via warranty deed. (R. at 608-610). That warranty deed was not recorded against Lot 27. (R. at 613-624). None of the conveyances of Lot 27 ever included a reference to the purported easement. (R. at 613-624).

Additionally, HTC procured a title report from its title insurer covering Lot 27

¹ This factual scenario extinguished whatever might have existed of the easement by Merger. “A servitude is terminated when all the benefits and burdens come into a single ownership. Transfer of a previously benefited or burdened parcel into separate ownership does not revive a servitude terminated under the rule of the section.” RESTATEMENT (THIRD) OF PROPERTY § 7.5 2000.

prior to entering into the Ground Lease. The purported easement on Lot 27, mentioned only in documents recorded against Lot 26, is not “excepted” from HTC’s title insurance policy.² (R. at 531 and 591-601). Nor would one expect it to be. Utah has a race-notice recording statute. U.C.A. § 57-3-103 (2000). An encumbrance or restriction on the use of real property such as an easement recorded on the wrong parcel of real property might just as well not be recorded at all. Ault v. Holden, 44 P.3d 781, 791 (Utah 2002) (recorded deed that fails to describe “the same real property . . . or any portion of it,” has no effect on validity of later recorded deed). Utah law simply does not recognize an encumbrance or restriction, such as the purported easement in this case, that is not recorded on the property it purports to encumber as such a recording gives no notice to someone investigating title to the property. Utah title insurers rely on this principle of law in performing their businesses. (R. at 544).

Not only is there no easement recorded against Lot 27, but there is no evidence on the real property that an easement exists. There is nothing on the ground that would give a purchaser notice that there was an easement on Lot 27. Indeed, the route of the

² HTC relies on expert opinion from Joseph Capilli for the proposition that somehow this unrecorded easement of which no one had notice, and for which there has never been evidence on the ground, might nevertheless constitute a “cloud” on Brown’s title. Interestingly, before he was a paid expert in this case for the Petitioner, Mr. Capilli’s title company issued a title policy to HTC that did not except the supposed easement. (R. at 531 and 591-601). Under these facts, the Trial Court appropriately rejected Mr. Capilli’s paid opinion testimony in favor of his title company’s opinion before this dispute arose. Actions, especially those taken before a suit begins, speak louder than words. See, Coray v. Ogden Union Ry. & Depot Co., 180 P.2d 542, 549 (Utah 1947)(“his actions speak louder than words”).

purported easement has been impassable since before Brown purchased the property. Storage units have now been on the real property covering the path of the purported easement for over ten years and the purported easement has never been used. (R. at 544). Not only is there no indication that an easement ever did exist, there is nobody claiming an easement over the property. (R. at 928, Transcript of Summary Judgment Hearing, pp. 6-8). Petitioner never articulated to the Trial Court or to the Court of Appeals any legal argument that under Utah law subjects Lot 27 to any easement.

In the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order of May 1, 2007, Third Judicial District Court Judge John Paul Kennedy stated unequivocally that there is no easement on Lot 27. See, R. at 827, Conclusions of Law, ¶ 1, “There is no easement on lot 27. There is no evidence of an easement on the ground and to the extent that an easement purporting to affect lot 27 is recorded against lot 26, that easement is void because it was not recorded against lot 27.” See also, R. at 827, Conclusions of Law, ¶ 2, “Because there is no easement affecting lot 27, there is no basis for the HTC’s claims against the defendant and this action should not have been brought against the landlord, causing the landlord to incur costs.” The Court of Appeals affirmed “the district court’s ruling dismissing HTC’s claims.” See, Court of Appeals’ Opinion, filed November 20, 2008, ¶ 13, attached as Addendum B to Appellant’s Brief.

HTC has continued to pursue claims based on an easement that does not exist in their title insurance policy, that has never been recorded against the real property in question, for which there is no evidence on the property, which has been found by the

Trial Court not to exist, which finding has never been challenged. Its efforts are all aimed at forcing Brown to renegotiate a lease with an option to purchase that was written in such a way as to preserve the Brown family's limited retirement fund.

II. BY THE TERMS OF THE GROUND LEASE, HTC HAS STANDING TO PURSUE A QUIET TITLE ACTION.

HTC's argument that they do not have standing to pursue a quiet title action is, like all of HTC's arguments, academic at best as it relies on HTC baseless assertion that there is an easement over Lot 27. Because there is no easement on Lot 27, there is nothing for either Brown or HTC to challenge.

The Court of Appeals specifically noted in its Opinion that this standing issue need not be answered in abstract terms because the specific language of the Ground Lease resolves this issue as to these parties. See, Court of Appeals' Opinion, filed November 20, 2008, ¶ 9, attached as Addendum B to Appellant's Brief. The parties agreed that HTC would have the right to contest the legality of a covenant, restriction, or condition of record should the situation arise during the course of the lease term: "[t]enant shall have the right, at its own expense, to contest or review by appropriate legal or administrative proceeding the validity or legality of any" (R. at 20-21)(Emphasis added). "Covenants, restrictions, and conditions *now or hereafter of record* which may be applicable to Tenant or to all or any portion of the Premises, or to the use, occupancy, possession, operation, maintenance, alteration, repair or restoration of any of the Premises," even if compliance with such requirements "results in interference with the

use or enjoyment of all or any portion of the Premises.” (R. at 11)(Italics added). Having conveyed a long term lease with an option to purchase the property to Petitioner, it only makes sense that Brown would also confer upon Petitioner the right to protect those existing and potential interests, particularly where the lease was intended to preserve the Brown’s limited retirement fund against cost or offset. None of the cases cited by Petitioner support the contention that a party, such as Petitioner, who has a long term lease and an option to purchase this property, has an insufficient interest in this property to confer standing. Indeed, the very quote cited by Petitioner in its Petition for Writ of Certiorari but conveniently not included in its Appellant’s Brief, answers the question: “[s]tanding to bring a quiet title action to perfect title is limited to parties who could acquire an interest in the property created by the court’s judgment or decree.” Elder v. Nephi City, 2007 UT 46, ¶ 20, 164 P.3d 1238. Petitioner already has an interest in the property as the holder of a long term lease. Petitioner “could acquire” even the fee interest by exercise of the option. This Court has already determined that the interest HTC has would be sufficient to bring a quiet title action, if there were an actual easement on this property, which there is not. Given the facts of this case, the standing issue is another red herring.

Contrary to what Petitioner would have this Court believe through its citations to non-Utah cases, the Utah Supreme Court has not categorically rejected the notion that standing can arise from an agreement and has, in fact held that “[a]s in many states, we find that in Utah standing acquired by stipulation is enforceable.” In re E.H., 2006 UT

36, ¶ 52, 137 P.3d 809, 820 (2006). By both parties agreeing to the language of the Ground Lease which clearly indicates that HTC may, independently of the Browns, challenge an easement, “to the extent it may have any validity” (See Court of Appeals Opinion, ¶ 12, attached as Addendum B to the Appellant’s Brief), the parties stipulated to give HTC standing to quiet title should it have been necessary.

III. “COVENANTS, RESTRICTIONS, AND CONDITIONS” AS REFERRED TO IN THE GROUND LEASE ARE NOT CC&R’S -- A LEGAL TERM OF ART.

Petitioner argues that the Trial Court and subsequently the Court of Appeals, by finding that an easement falls under the definition of “Legal Requirement” as defined in the Ground Lease, would wreak “havoc” on landlord/tenant contract law. HTC argues, referring to the application of the Plain Meaning Rule, that the Court of Appeals “disregarded this principle by failing to recognize the well-established distinction between the meaning of the terms ‘easements’ and ‘covenants, conditions, and restrictions.’” See, Appellant’s Brief, p. 14. The problem with this argument is that in making it, Petitioner refers to a term that is nowhere contained in the Ground Lease. For the first time in these proceedings, HTC argues that the contract language “covenants, restrictions, and conditions” is a reference to the legal term of art “CC&R’s.” The record does not support such an assertion. Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions when referred to in that order have come to be known in the law as CC&R’s and have in fact become a legal term of art. See, Moler v. CW Management Corp., 190 P.3d 1250, 1251 (Utah 2008)(“At the time the Molers first met with Redfeather Estates' real estate

agent, Christopher McCandless, the homes in Redfeather Estates were burdened with covenants, conditions, and restrictions (“CC & Rs”)); See also, Peters v. Pine Meadow Ranch Home Ass’n, 151 P.3d 962, 963 (Utah 2007)(“The Association seeks to levy such fees against Petitioner Forest Meadow Ranch Property Owners Association, L.L.C. (“Forest Meadow”) based on covenants, conditions, and restrictions (“CC & Rs”)”); Dansie v. Hi Country Estates Homeowners Ass’n, 92 P.3d 162 (UT App. 2004)(Court of Appeals makes reference to “CC & Rs” in opinion without any reference to the fact that CC&R refers to covenants, conditions, and restrictions).

The universality of the order in which these words are used when invoking the legal term of art argue against construing the Ground Lease in light of the law governing CC&R’s because the legal term of art was not used. The Ground Lease does not employ the legal term of art “covenants, conditions, and restrictions” or CC&R’s as they have come to be known. Rather, the Ground Lease never uses the acronym, CC&R, and refers to the individual terms covenants, restrictions, and conditions in the much broader sentence “all covenants, restrictions, and conditions now or hereafter of record which may be applicable to Tenant or to all or any portion of the premises . . .” (R. at 11). It is illogical to conclude that by the mere use of three words that, when used in a specific order, form a legal term of art with a specific meaning, the parties intended that same meaning when they changed the order of the words so as not to state the term of art. Had the parties intended to refer to CC&R’s, a concept with a specific legal meaning, they would have used those specific words in the specific order in which they are used when

referring to the term of art. Instead, the Ground Lease used those three words- covenants, restrictions, and conditions - in a different order, emphasizing the plain meaning of the individual words rather than invoking the term of art. As a result, the Court of Appeals conclusion that “[t]he Easement, to the extent it may have any validity, is clearly a covenant, restriction, or condition of record...” is based on the plain meaning of the terms contained in the Ground Lease. See, Court of Appeals’ Opinion, ¶ 12, attached to Appellant’s Brief as Addendum B.

IV. THE SUPPOSED DICHOTOMY BETWEEN AN EASEMENT AND OTHER CONDITIONS OR RESTRICTIONS OF TITLE IS AS IMAGINARY AS THE SUPPOSED EASEMENT IN THIS CASE.

Much of the weight of Petitioner’s argument rests on the supposed dichotomy between an easement on the one hand and restrictive covenants or restrictions on the other. Petitioner posits that if the Court of Appeals is upheld in this case it will plunge this heretofore clear area of the law into chaos.

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